

IBM WebSphere Development Studio Client for iSeries

# WDSC: Working offline with iSeries Projects

Version 6.0



IBM WebSphere Development Studio Client for iSeries

# WDSC: Working offline with iSeries Projects

Version 6.0

# Contents

Introduction	•	۷	1
Chapter 1. Module 1. Starting the			
product and connecting to an iSeries .	•	1	1
Exercise 1.1: Starting the product		. 1	L
Exercise 1.2: Configuring a connection to an iSeries			
system		. 2	2
Exercise 1.3: Connecting to an iSeries system		. 4	ł
<b>Chapter 2. Module 2. Working with</b> <b>source in disconnected mode</b> Exercise 2.1: Making source available offline Exercise 2.2: Editing local source members in	-	<b>9</b>	)
disconnected mode		12	2
Exercise 2.3: Verifying RPG source in disconnected mode	•	15 16	5
Chapter 3. Module 3. Creating and Building an iSeries Project		21	

Exercise 3.1: Creating a scratch library .					21
Exercise 3.2: Creating an iSeries Project .					23
Exercise 3.3: Creating a source file and a s	our	ce			
member					26
Exercise 3.4: Importing members into your	r pr	oje	ct		29
Exercise 3.5: Selecting the build style					31
Exercise 3.6: Submitting a build					32
Exercise 3.7: Showing remote objects					35
Exercise 3.8: Filtering out remote objects.					35
Exercise 3.9: Changing PAYROLLG again	and	Į			
submitting another build					37
u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u					
Chapter 4. Summary					39
·····,····,····,····,····,····,····,····					
Appendix Notices					/1
	• •				40
Programming interface information	·	·	·	·	42
Trademarks					43

# Introduction

When you do iSeries<sup>™</sup> project based development you will want to work in the iSeries Projects perspective. This perspective serves two main purposes, namely for performing iSeries offline development on Windows<sup>®</sup> clients and for enabling team development.

Offline development allows for a disconnected mode of development where a live connection to a host is only required when code updates or builds are needed.

Team development is needed when code changes need to be shared between a team of developers and synchronization of these changes is needed as part of the development cycle. Team development is not covered in this tutorial.

Typically, you create local source physical files and members and edit them locally. You can also download existing members from any remote library into your project. Once done with the local editing, you can submit a build that will push all your changes to the associated library of the iSeries Project and perform a build on the remote members. The code pushed to this scratch library is only pushed there for the purpose of performing that build. If source code management is needed, the iSeries Project could be associated with any Team provider, for example, Rational<sup>®</sup> ClearCase<sup>®</sup> LT version control, that is installed with Development Studio Client.

This tutorial teaches you about disconnected development. A live connection is required only when code updates or builds are needed, or when you need to view remote resources for a project. If you are working on a remote laptop, or are at home with a slower connection, you might choose to work in disconnected mode. With this option, you explicitly copy files locally while you have a live connection, close the connection, work on the files at your leisure, and upload them back to the server once you have finished. Then you can run another verify to locally check your source code for syntax and semantic errors and submit a compile only when your code is error free.

#### Prerequisites

In order to complete this tutorial end to end, you should already have completed the tutorial named Maintain an ILE application using Remote System Explorer and have working knowledge of the following:

• Basic Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Windows operations such as working with the desktop and basic mouse operations such as opening folders and performing drag-and-drop operations.

It is also useful, but not necessary, for you to have basic knowledge of ILE RPG.

#### Time required

To complete the modules in this tutorial, you will need approximately 1 hour.

#### Learning objectives

This tutorial is divided into 3 modules, each with their own specific learning objectives. You can choose to complete one or all of the modules. Each module contains several exercises that must be completed in order for the tutorial to work properly.

Chapter 1, "Module 1. Starting the product and connecting to an iSeries," on page 1 teaches you how to start the product and how to configure and create a connection in order that you can see the payroll application source code. In this module, you will:

- Start the product
- Set the workspace location
- Set up a connection to an iSeries system
- Add a library to your library list

Chapter 2, "Module 2. Working with source in disconnected mode," on page 9 teaches you how to make source available for offline or disconnected development. Here you will learn to edit and verify the source disconnected from the iSeries system. You will also learn how to compile your changed member. In this module, you will:

- · Download selected files or members to your workstation
- Verify download source
- · Launch the editor on a local source member under an iSeries Project
- Put an iSeries connection into offline mode
- · Edit a local source member under an iSeries Project
- View an outline of the local RPG source
- · Open a local DDS member for edit from the iSeries Projects Navigator
- Verify changed RPG source
- Compile a single member

Chapter 3, "Module 3. Creating and Building an iSeries Project," on page 21 teaches you another approach to working with iSeries Projects. You will learn how to create a new iSeries project, create new physical files and source members and how to populate the iSeries projects with members. You will also learn how to show remote objects or local objects or both and how to submit a build for the entire project. In this module, you will:

- Create a personal development library (single developer sandbox)
- · Create an empty iSeries Project
- · Populate the empty iSeries Project
- Select a build style for the iSeries Project
- Build the iSeries Project
- · View all the remote objects in the iSeries Project Navigator
- Filter the objects to remove the remote only objects from the iSeries Project Navigator
- · Remove the Local/Remote Flags from the iSeries Project Navigator
- Push only a changed file to the iSeries

When you are ready, begin Chapter 1, "Module 1. Starting the product and connecting to an iSeries," on page 1.

# Chapter 1. Module 1. Starting the product and connecting to an iSeries

This module teaches you how to start the product and create and configure a connection to an iSeries system.

In this module, you will:

- · Start the product
- Set the workspace location
- Set up a connection to an iSeries system
- Add a library to your library list

**Requirement:** Before beginning this module, you should have the prerequisite knowledge outlined in "Introduction" on page v.

#### Exercises

The exercises within this module must be completed in order.

- "Exercise 1.1: Starting the product"
- "Exercise 1.2: Configuring a connection to an iSeries system" on page 2
- "Exercise 1.3: Connecting to an iSeries system" on page 4

#### Time required

This module will take approximately **10 minutes** to complete.

## **Exercise 1.1: Starting the product**

To start the product:

- 1. Click Start on the task bar of your desktop
- 2. Select Programs > IBM<sup>®</sup> Rational > IBM WebSphere<sup>®</sup> Development Studio Client for iSeries V6.0 > WebSphere Development Studio Client for iSeries

🔚 IBM WebSphere Development Studio Client for iSeries V6.0 🕨 🍪 🛛 WebSphere Development Studio Client for iSeries 🚬

 A dialog will appear. Here you specify the name of the workspace where your projects and other resources such as folders, subfolders and files that you are developing in the workbench will reside.

Workspace Launcher				×
Select a workspace				
IBM Rational Software D Select the workspace dir	evelopment Platform s ectory to use for this s	tores your projects in a session.	directory called a works	pace.
Workspace: C:\Docume	nts and Settings\Admir	nistrator\IBM\rationalsd	p6.errselabxx	Browse
🗖 Use this as the defau	lt and do not ask again	r.		
			ОК	Cancel

- 4. Use the same name of the workspace that you used for the tutorial named Maintain an ILE application with Remote System Explorer, for example, RSElabXX (where XX is a unique number), or use a different workspace.
- 5. Click **OK** to open the workbench.



You have started the product and set the workspace location and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 1.2: Configuring a connection to an iSeries system."

## Exercise 1.2: Configuring a connection to an iSeries system

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 1.1: Starting the product" on page 1.

When you first start the workbench and open a perspective, you are not connected to any system except your local hard drive on your workstation.

Before you can work offline you need to connect to an iSeries system to download the source files that you need.

You may skip this chapter if you want to use an existing connection from the previous tutorial named Maintain an ILE RPG application with Remote System Explorer.

To configure a connection:

1. Click the X to close the Welcome view.



2. In the Remote Systems view **New Connection** shows the various remote systems types you can connect to through the Remote Systems view.



**3**. Expand **iSeries** to configure a connection to an iSeries system.

The Name personal profile page opens if this is the first time you are creating a connection.



4. Click **Next** to accept the default value.

The profile defaults to the name of the workstation. Your profile will be different from the one shown here.

The Remote iSeries System Connection page opens:

New		2
<b>temote iSeries</b> Define connectio	System Connection n information	_0_
Parent profile:	msteckh7tp	<u> </u>
Connection name	; s400a	
Host name:	(\$400a)	×
Description:		
Verify host n	me	
	< Back Next >	Cancel

On this second page you specify the information for your connection. The cursor on this page is positioned in the **Host Name** field.

5. In the Host name field, type the name of your host system.

The Connection name is automatically filled with the host name. Leave it this way. This name displays in your Remote Systems view and must be unique to the profile.

- 6. Leave the Parent profile default value. You don't need to change it.
- 7. Leave the **Verify host name** check box selected.
- 8. Click **Finish** to create your connection.

You have set up a connection to an iSeries system and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 1.3: Connecting to an iSeries system."

### Exercise 1.3: Connecting to an iSeries system

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 1.2: Configuring a connection to an iSeries system" on page 2.

After you configure a connection to an iSeries system, you can easily connect and expand your new connection to show the subsystems. Subsystems are a function grouping of the various types of remote resources that can be explored in the remote system.



To connect to an iSeries system:

1. In the Remote Systems view, expand your new connection to show the subsystems.

Now let's work with a library in our library list and add the library that you'll be using in this tutorial:

a. Right click iSeries Objects and click Properties on the pop-up menu.



- b. Select Initial Library List on the left pane.
- c. Type RSELABXX in the Library field and click Add.

mmand Execution vironment Variables	Initial Library Lis	t	
tial Library Lisc	Library list		
bsystem	Library:		Add(B)
	Library	Library Position	
	RSELABXX	*LAST	
			Remove
			Move Up
			Move Down
	•	[)	1
			-
	Current library:	JSRPRF	
	Initial command:		
		Restore Defau	ults Apply

d. Click OK.

This will add the library RSELABxx to your library list every time you use this connection.

- Note: You can also change your library list using the pop-up menu items Add Library List Entry or Change Current Library on the Library list folder in the iSeries Objects subsystem. These changes are only valid until you disconnect and only known to the Remote Systems Communication server job.
- 2. Expand iSeries Objects if it is not already.
- 3. Expand the Library list folder.

Now the connection will be activated and you will be prompted for a user ID and password.

loct name:	TOP 0507M
ust name.	
ser ID:	WLABXX
assword:	*****
	🔽 Save user ID
	Save password

- 4. Enter your user ID and password.
- 5. Select the Save user ID check box.
- 6. Select the **Save password** check box.

7. Click OK.

Back in the workbench you will see the libraries in your job's library list.



Notice that the s400a node now has a small green arrow in the icon to indicate it is an active connection.

**8**. Expand RSELABxx to see the source files within this library. You will use some of these files in the next module.

📑 Remote Systems 🗙 🛛 Team 🖉 🗖
E RSELABXX.*lib.prod-usr
E CLR1.*pgm.cle
🔃 🔝 MYCOMPILE.*pgm.clle
PAYROLLC2.*pgm.cblie
🔁 🗈 PAYROLLD.*pgm.cblle
COMPARE.*file.pf-src
EMPMST.*file.pf-dta
EVFEVENT.*file.pf-dta
ਦ_ ੴ MSTDSP.*file.dspf
tender MSTDSP2.*file.dspf
🕀 🗐 PRJMST.*file.pf-dta 🔛
🕀 🗐 QCBLLESRC.*file.pf-sn
Delta QCLSRC.*file.pf-src
QCMDSRC.*file.pf-src
QDDSSRC.*file.pf-src

You have added a library to the library list.

#### Module recap

You have completed Chapter 1, "Module 1. Starting the product and connecting to an iSeries," on page 1. You have learned how to:

- Start the product
- Set the workspace location
- · Set up a connection to an iSeries system
- Add a library to your library list

Now that you have started the product, created and configured a connection, and located the source code for the payroll application, you are ready to download source to your workstation. Continue to Chapter 2, "Module 2. Working with source in disconnected mode," on page 9.

# Chapter 2. Module 2. Working with source in disconnected mode

This module teaches you how to download selected files or members in order that you can work on these files disconnected from an iSeries. An iSeries project will be created for you automatically. You will verify the downloaded source before you disconnect. You will then disconnect from the iSeries. Next you will edit and verify source on your workstation. Finally you will compile your source. During the compile step you are automatically reconnected to the iSeries system.

In this module, you will:

- · Download selected files or members to your workstation
- Verify download source
- · Launch the editor on a local source member under an iSeries Project
- Put an iSeries connection into offline mode
- · Edit a local source member under an iSeries Project
- View an outline of the local RPG source
- · Open a local DDS member for edit from the iSeries Projects Navigator
- Verify changed RPG source
- Compile a single member

#### Exercises

The exercises within this module must be completed in order.

- "Exercise 2.1: Making source available offline"
- "Exercise 2.2: Editing local source members in disconnected mode" on page 12
- "Exercise 2.3: Verifying RPG source in disconnected mode" on page 15
- "Exercise 2.4: Compiling a member" on page 16

#### Time required

This module will take approximately 20 minutes to complete.

## Exercise 2.1: Making source available offline

You want to edit and verify your source on a workstation. You do not have an existing iSeries Project. You can use the Make Available Offline action.

The Make Available Offline action downloads the selected files or members locally to their corresponding iSeries project. The corresponding iSeries project has the same host and the same library properties as the host name and the library of the selected source physical files or members. If such an iSeries project is not found, one will automatically be created.

To make source available offline:

1. Expand the RSELABxx library (if it is not already) that contains the source files that you want to work with offline.

- 2. Select the source physical files QDDSSRC and QRPGLESRC as you want the members in these source files to be made available for offline development. You can use the Shift key to make multiple selections.
- 3. Right-click and click Make Available Offline on the pop-up menu.



The iSeries Projects Question dialog opens.

4. Click **Yes** to proceed.



The iSeries Projects perspective opens with your new iSeries Project named s400a\_RSELABxx. This project is created for you automatically and the source files QDDSSRC and QRPGLESRC are added to this project.

**Note:** If you want to add more source files later to this iSeries project, you can use the Make Available Offline option again.



Now you need to verify that you have the latest cached source available before you begin to work offline.

- 5. Expand QRPGLESRC and double-click PAYROLLG to open this source file in the LPEX Editor.
- 6. Click Source and click **Verify** on the workbench menu.



This action will verify your member for syntax and semantic errors and any errors will appear in the iSeries Error List and cache all information required for subsequent offline verifys. Now you are ready to disconnect from the iSeries server.

7. From the Remote Systems view, just below the iSeries Project Navigator, right-click on the connection and click **Disconnect**.



**Note:** You can also put an entire iSeries connection, and all the contents defined with that connection, into offline mode by right-clicking the connection and clicking Work Offline on the pop-up menu. This method of working offline prevents the Remote System Explorer from attempting to connect to the iSeries server if a request is made for remote information. For example, if you are verifying a local source file or member in an iSeries project, the project would attempt to connect to the server if the required information was not available in the cache. This can be prevented by switching the connection to offline mode.

You have downloaded selected files or members to your workstation, verified downloaded source, launched the editor on a local source member under an iSeries Project and put an iSeries connection into offline mode and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 2.2: Editing local source members in disconnected mode."

## Exercise 2.2: Editing local source members in disconnected mode

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 2.1: Making source available offline" on page 9.

Editing local source members under iSeries projects is the same as editing remote source members in the Remote Systems Explorer. The LPEX editor can be launched on any local member and the same functionality is available, such as the Outline view, prompter and the content assist feature.

There is one major difference though when editing source members using the LPEX editor in the Remote System Explorer perspective as opposed to using the LPEX editor in the iSeries Project Perspective. When a source member is opened in LPEX in the Remote System Explorer perspective, it is locked, and it cannot be modified on the host while the local edit session is active. Any code changes that you make locally will be saved to the host when the Save action is performed in the LPEX editor.

On the other hand, when a member is opened in the LPEX editor in the iSeries Projects perspective, the member is not locked on the host. It can be modified by anyone with enough authority to the object. If you do a Refresh on the iSeries Project, a double sided red arrow will indicate that the member has been modified on the host. When you push changes back to the host, (something you will do when you are connected again), you will be warned that you will be overwriting remote changes, and you are given the chance to cancel the operation.

Now let's edit the member PAYROLLG that you already have open in the editor.

To edit PAYROLLG:

- 1. In the PAYROLLG Editor window move the cursor to line 211 which contains EXSR ACDESR.
- 2. Append an X to the EXSR op-code to make it EXSRX.
- Click File > Save from the workbench menu to save this change. You will fix this error later.

#### Displaying an outline of an ILE RPG member

The Outline view acts as an excellent resource when you want to edit RPG and COBOL source in the Remote Systems LPEX editor. The Outline view displays a structural outline of items defined in the source that you currently have open in the Remote Systems LPEX editor window. With the editor active, you can expand the file structure in the Outline view, and click various elements in the view to jump to that location in the source itself.

To see an Outline view of your RPG source:

1. Click the **PAYROLLG** tab in the editor and click **Refresh** on the Outline view toolbar.

The Outline view contains your source program in a tree view without the lines containing logic.



Now you want to see more details of your source member.

- 2. Expand Files.
- **3**. Expand the MSTDSP workstation file.
- 4. Expand the EMPSEL record format.
- 5. Double-click on any of the entries in the Outline view. This will position the source editor accordingly.

/ PAYROLL	G.RPGLE ×	D = Outline 🛛 🕼 🗖 🗆
Line :	200 Column 1	🖃 🧠 Global Definitions
	CLON01Factor	:1++ 🖻 🗘 Files
000212	С	STDSP : WORKST
000213	С	电 SELECT
000214	С	中世 EMPSEL
000215	С	EMPNO : P
000216	C*	E ACODE : C
000217	C* Display	er⊒l 🕒 🕀 EMESS: Ct
000218	C*	200
000219	С	EMPMNT
000220	C* leave sub	or: 电管 PRJSEL
000221	C*	⊕-È_ PRJMNT
000222	с	⊡ 🗄 RSNSEL
000224	с	E E RSNMNT
		EMPMST : DISK (Ex
•		🖿 🕀 PRJMST : DISK (Ex
		📃 📄 🔄 RSNMST : DISK (E×💌
		1 ×

#### Opening a DDS member

You can also edit DDS members locally from the iSeries Projects Navigator.

To open a DDS file member:

1. In the iSeries Project Navigator, expand QDDSSRC, if it is not already expanded.

© iSeries Projects - PAYRO	DLLG.RPGLE - IBM Rational Sof	ftware Development Platform 📃 🔲 🛛
	1554 cm + Hoject (km + Hoject 155 - 0 - 0 - 0 - ] < >   = = ►   Δ	Image: A state of the stat
Control Contr	Navigator	COUTINE COUTI
RSNMST QRPGLESRC PAYROL	Dpen With	Remote Systems LPEX Editor     Text Editor
PAYROL	Replace from Associated Library Copy Paste	System Editor In-Place Editor Default Editor

2. Right-click MSTDSP member and click Open With.

As in the Remote System Explorer perspective, you now have the options to open the Remote Systems LPEX Editor or other editors. CODE Designer is not registered as an external editor for display files, but you can change that by manually adding it through the preference page, and it will then appear in the Open With menu. To do this:

- a. Select **Window > Preferences** from the main menu.
- b. Expand Workbench. Select File Associations.
- c. Select \*dspf from File types.
- d. Click Add next to the Associated editors list view.
- e. Choose External Programs and then browse to the location where CODE Designer (codedsu.exe), is installed. Click Open. Click OK. Next you will add the Code Editor.
- f. Click Add next to the Associated editors list view.
- g. Choose **External Programs** and then browse to the location where CODE Editor (codeedit.exe), is installed. Click **Open**. Click **OK**.
- h. Click OK to close the Preferences window.

Now, if you right click MSTDSP member and click **Open With** you will see the codedsu and codeedit added to the pop-up menu.

You have edited a local source member under an iSeries Project, viewed an outline of the local RPG source and opened a local DDS member for edit from the iSeries Project Navigator and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 2.3: Verifying RPG source in disconnected mode."

## Exercise 2.3: Verifying RPG source in disconnected mode

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 2.2: Editing local source members in disconnected mode" on page 12.

While you are disconnected from an iSeries, you can make certain that there are no errors by invoking the Program Verifier. The verifier checks for syntactic and semantic (compile) errors on your workstation so that you can guarantee a clean compile when you are connected to an iSeries. The iSeries Error List window lists

the errors that are found and their severity, inserts the error messages directly into the source and helps you to navigate between the errors.

To verify source:

- 1. Click the **PAYROLLG** tab.
- Click Source > Verify from the workbench menu. (Similarly, you can also use the Verify tool button → you need the source in the editor and the tab needs to be selected for the button to be enabled.)

After a moment the verifier will display an iSeries Error List below the Editor window.

- 3. Use the Error list to locate the error you created earlier and fix it.
- 4. Save the change to the source that you just made.
- 5. Verify the source again.

You have verified changed RPG source and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 2.4: Compiling a member."

## Exercise 2.4: Compiling a member

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 2.3: Verifying RPG source in disconnected mode" on page 15.

So now that the code has been edited locally and verified, you are ready to perform a single member compile on the source member in your iSeries project.

To compile a single member:

1. First change the preferences to compile interactively. Click **Window** > **Preferences** from the workbench menu.

- Workbench	Build and Compile
- Ant Build Order Help Install/Update Internet	Select the default build style for this workspace. All new iSeries projects will be created using this style. You can change this for a project in the project's properties. Default build style:
- iSeries ProjectsBuild and Compile	CL Program Command *NONE
- Web and XML  - Web Diagram Web Facing  - Web Tools	Provided by IBM plugin "Series Projects - Remote Build Styles Plugin" version 6.0.0 This build style will upload CL programs specified in the configuration, compile them, and then run them to build this project. The compile commands can be automatically generated. Run compiles as batch jobs
	Days to keep temporary files on remote system: 7 Restore Defaults Apply

- 2. Expand iSeries Projects.
- 3. Select Build and Compile.
- 4. Clear the **Run compiles as batch jobs** check box.
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Expand QRPGLESRC if it is not already.
- 7. Right-click PAYROLLG and select **Remote Actions > Compile > CRTBNDRPG** on the pop-up menu.

	INCESSE:		
iSeries Projects - PAYROL File Edit Source Navigate	K Delete Move Rename Import		Remote Syste
s400a_RSELABXX	Add Bookm Refresh	ark	Global Definit
······································	Remote Ac	tions 🕨	A Work With Compile Commands
PRJMST.PF - UP REFMST.PF - RSNMST.PF 	Team Compare Replace \		Select Compile Command (RPGLE) Compile Compile (Prompt)
PAYROLL.RPGLE	Properties		Generate COMPILE, CLLE
		000004 000005 000006	Push Changes Push Selected Submit Build
		Verify progr	ram act:
Remote Systems S Prope	rties 🗖 🗖	Tasks iSeries Comma s400a_RSELABXX<1 業 ⅔ ⇔ ⇔	nd 🖓 iSeries Error List 🔀 🖵 🗖 TORAS07M>RSELABXX/QRPGLESRC( 👻
ing Local		ID Messag	je Ja La Lotar Car -
	_	ID Messag	ovides 0 2 RSE s
· E Local · E Local · 함 \$400a · · 함 iSeries Objects		i R RPG pr i R The na i R The na	Je         J., L., Lot., C.,           ovides         0         2., RSE         s           me or i         0         1         RSE         s           me or i         0         1         RSE         s

Now the connection will be activated and you may be prompted for a user ID and password.

8. You automatically connect to your iSeries system.

Any local changes are uploaded to the same file in the associated library on the iSeries system.

This action will compile your member and any errors will appear in the iSeries Error List.

If you are not sure that the compile was successful, you can check the iSeries Commands Log.

You could now run or debug your changed application.

You have compiled a single member.

#### Module recap

You have completed Chapter 2, "Module 2. Working with source in disconnected mode," on page 9. You have learned how to:

- · Download selected files or members to your workstation
- Verify download source
- · Launch the editor on a local source member under an iSeries Project
- Put an iSeries connection into offline mode
- · Edit a local source member under an iSeries Project
- View an outline of the local RPG source

- Open a local DDS member for edit from the iSeries Projects Navigator
- Verify changed RPG source
- Compile a single member

Another way to work with iSeries Projects is to create a new project, populate that project with members and build the entire project. Continue to Chapter 3, "Module 3. Creating and Building an iSeries Project," on page 21.

# Chapter 3. Module 3. Creating and Building an iSeries Project

Instead of making remote objects available offline as you did with the Make Available Offline option, you can create an iSeries Project and import or add objects to that project. To import objects into an iSeries Project you must be connected to an iSeries system.

This module teaches you how to create an iSeries Project and import objects into that project. You will also learn how to show remote objects and filter out remote objects. Finally you will learn how to build the full project.

In this module, you will:

- Create a personal development library (single developer sandbox)
- Create an empty iSeries Project
- Populate the empty iSeries Project
- Select a build style for the iSeries Project
- Build the iSeries Project
- · View all the remote objects in the iSeries Project Navigator
- Filter the objects to remove the remote only objects from the iSeries Project Navigator
- Remove the Local/Remote Flags from the iSeries Project Navigator
- Push only a changed file to the iSeries

#### Exercises

The exercises within this module must be completed in order.

- "Exercise 3.1: Creating a scratch library"
- "Exercise 3.2: Creating an iSeries Project" on page 23
- "Exercise 3.3: Creating a source file and a source member" on page 26
- "Exercise 3.4: Importing members into your project" on page 29
- "Exercise 3.5: Selecting the build style" on page 31
- "Exercise 3.6: Submitting a build" on page 32
- "Exercise 3.7: Showing remote objects" on page 35
- "Exercise 3.8: Filtering out remote objects" on page 35
- "Exercise 3.9: Changing PAYROLLG again and submitting another build" on page 37

#### Time required

This module will take approximately **30 minutes** to complete.

## Exercise 3.1: Creating a scratch library

You will need an associated library when you create an iSeries Project in the next exercise. The associated library is a "scratch" library on the remote iSeries system that an iSeries project maps to. It is used for pushing code changes made locally to the remote host and for performing builds on that remote host. It is expected that this library is a "personal" library and the goal is that there should not be any need

for any source in it to be edited directly on the host. It is meant to be a sandbox in which a single developer can perform tasks.

To create a scratch library:

 In the Remote Systems view below the iSeries Project Navigator, right-click iSeries Objects and click New > Library on the workbench menu.



The iSeries Library page opens.

2. In the Library field, type Projxx.

© New				×
i <b>Series Library</b> Create Library (C	RTLIB)			PTT
Library: Projxx				Browse
- Type C. Production		Test	•	
CRTLIB LIB(PROJX)	X) TYPE(*TEST) TEXT	('scratch library	')	

- 3. Select the **Test** radio button to change the type of library to Test.
- 4. Type scratch library for the Text field.
- 5. Click Finish.

This will create an empty iSeries Library.



You have created a personal development library (single developer sandbox) and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.2: Creating an iSeries Project."

## **Exercise 3.2: Creating an iSeries Project**

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.1: Creating a scratch library" on page 21.

iSeries Projects are projects that are dedicated for holding iSeries source members destined to be pushed and compiled on an iSeries machine. They follow the Workbench paradigm in that they have a special perspective, the iSeries Projects Perspective, which is dedicated to showing and working with these projects. When a new iSeries project is created three properties need to be associated with it. These are an iSeries Connection, an Associated Library, and a Build Style.

To create an iSeries project:

1. Click **File > New > iSeries Project** on the workbench menu.



The iSeries Project page opens.

2. In the **Project name** field, type MyProject.

Project name: My	Project		I	
Project contents -				
Directory: C:\Do	cuments and Se	ttings\Administra	ator\IBM\ration	Browse
pecify the name a project allows for k	and location of the	ne iSeries project t, while perform	t being created ing builds on a re	An iSeries mote iSeries
nost machine.	sedi do rolopilior	icy mile perform	ing bailes on are	11000 1001100

- 3. Click Next.
- 4. Select your connection from the **Connection** list, for example, s400a.

The property iSeries connection allows for remote access to the iSeries host machine, and handles various aspects, including user ID and password authentication to the remote host. It also provides the initial environment for builds, including the base library list.

5. In the Associated library field, type PROJXX

eries Project Pro Specify the iSeries (	perties		
Connection:	s400a	•	New
Associated library:	PROJXX		Browse
Specify the connection allows finade locally are put verforming builds o	tion and library name to or remote access to the shed to the specified rer on the remote host.	associate with this iSeries p iSeries host machine. Code mote library. That library is a	roject. The changes also used fo
Specify the connect connection allows f made locally are pu berforming builds o	tion and library name to or remote access to the shed to the specified ren n the remote host.	associate with this iSeries p iSeries host machine. Code mote library. That library is a	roject. The changes also used fo

The associated library is the library on the iSeries system that your iSeries project maps to.

- 6. Click Next.
- 7. Under Active build style, select CL Program.

@ New			N 16E or		×
iSeries Project Pro	perties				
Select and configure	e the active buil	d style for thi	s project.		
Active build style:					
CL Program					Configure
*NONE					
This build style will u and then run them t	pload CL progra o build this proje	ms specified i act. The com	n the config pile commar	uration, co nds can be	ompile them, automatically
generated.					
Provided by IBM plu	gin "iSeries Proje	ects - Remote	Build Style	s Plugin" ve	rsion 6.0.0
	6	1	1	. 1	. 1
	< Back	Next >	Fi	nish	Cancel

The property build style determines how a given iSeries Project is built. It determines how source physical files and members are pushed to the remote host, and how these members are compiled there.

8. Click Finish.

This will create an empty iSeries project that you have to populate. This is useful when you are creating new iSeries members from scratch and you don't have them already on a host.



You have created an empty iSeries Project and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.3: Creating a source file and a source member."

## Exercise 3.3: Creating a source file and a source member

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.2: Creating an iSeries Project" on page 23.

You can create a source physical file and a source member for your project.

To create a source physical file:

- 1. Right-click your iSeries Project.
- 2. Click New then click iSeries Source Physical File on the workbench menu.



The iSeries Source Physical File page opens.

New				)
ieries Source Ph	ysical File			
Create a new loca	l source physica	l file under an iSer	ies project.	Đ
Enter or select an i	Series Project:			
MyProject				
冷 ← ⇒				
- 🔁 MyProject				
E B RemoteSy	stemsConnectio	ns		
H B Adda DS	stems⊺emp⊢iles ⊑LAPYY			
	CLADAA			
File name: RPGfile	9			
Advanced >> [				
Auvanceu >>				
Select an iSeries pr	oject and enter	the name of the r	new source physi	cal file being
reated. The source	e physical file w	ill map to a folder	under the select	ed iSeries
si ojecti				
	1	1		(
			Cincins and a second	

- 3. Enter a name for your file in the **File name** field.
- 4. Click Finish.

A connection dialog may appear. Here you specify the connection to use for this remote action.

@Remote Syster	m Connection	×
Specify the connect use remote informat	ion to be used b tion.	y actions which
Connection: s400	a	▼ New
	ОК	Cancel

5. Click OK.

The file is added to your project.



Next add a member to the file that you just created.

- 6. Right-click your iSeries source physical file.
- 7. Click New then click iSeries Source Member on the pop-up menu.



The iSeries Member page opens.

New
Series Member
Create a new local source member under an iSeries project.
Enter or select a source physical file under an iSeries project:
MyProject/RPGFILE
AppFile     RemoteSystemsConnections     Second SystemsTempFiles     S400a_RSELABXX
Mamber pamer RPGSPC
Source type: RPGLE
Select an iSeries source physical file, and enter the name of the new source member being created. The member will map to a file in the folder representing the selected iSeries source physical file.
< Back Next > Finish Cancel

8. Enter the name of the member in the **Member name** field, for example, RPGSRC.

- 9. Enter the source type in the Source type field, for example, RPGLE.
- 10. Click Finish.

A connection dialog may appear. Here you specify the connection to use for this remote action.



11. Click OK.

The member is added to your project.

iSeri	es Project	× Na	vigator	
		9	E 4	•
9-6	MyProject			-
D-	RPGFILE			
	RPGS	RC.RPGLE		
ė-e	s400a_RSELA	ABXX		
÷	📳 QDDSSR(	2		
Ė	CRPGLES	RC		
	- 🖑 PAYR	OLL.RPGLE		
	PAYR	OLLG.RPGL	E	-

You can now double-click the member to open it in the editor.

You have populated the iSeries Project with a source physical file and a source member and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.4: Importing members into your project."

## Exercise 3.4: Importing members into your project

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.3: Creating a source file and a source member" on page 26.

You can also import remote objects into an existing iSeries project. You can use the Import Remote Objects action or the Add to iSeries Project action.

To import remote objects:

- 1. Right-click your iSeries Project.
- 2. Click Import Remote Objects on the pop-up menu.



- 3. Expand \*LIBL.
- 4. If you see a logon display, enter your user ID and password.
- 5. If you don't see RSELABxx in the library list, you will need to create a library filter.
  - a. Expand Work with libraries.
  - b. Type RSELABxx for the Library name.
  - c. Click OK.

ODDSSRC		
	h libraries **lib.prod-sys 2.*lib.prod-sys SYS.*lib.prod-sys SYS.*lib.prod-sys **lib.prod-usr BXX.*lib.test-usr ABXX.*lib.test-usr ABXX.*lib.prod-usr OMPARE.*file.pf-src CLSRC.*file.pf-src CLSRC.*file.pf-src CMDSRC.*file.pf-src RPGLESRC.*file.pf-src RPGLESRC.*file.pf-src PGFILE.*file.pf-src	
	ОК	Cancel

- 6. Expand the library that contains the source files that you want to import. In this case select RSELABxx.
- 7. Select the source physical files QDDSSRC and QRPGLESRC to be added to your project. You can use the Shift key to make multiple selections.
- 8. Click OK.

A connection dialog may appear. Here you specify the connection to use for this remote action.

@Remote Syster	n Connection	x
Specify the connecti use remote informat	ion to be used b ion.	y actions which
Connection: s400.	a	▼ New
	OK	Cancel

9. Click OK.

The selected files are downloaded.



The project now shows the copied files and they are ready for you to work with.



You have added existing members to your iSeries Project and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.5: Selecting the build style."

## Exercise 3.5: Selecting the build style

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.4: Importing members into your project" on page 29.

So now that you know how to populate your iSeries Project, you could next disconnect and edit and verify the files on your workstation. Let's assume that you did just that but in this case you changed multiple members and that you want to build (compile) the full iSeries project.

Associated with each iSeries project is a Build Style which determines how source members in that project will be pushed and compiled on the host. A build style is a set of actions that provide push and build operations for a given iSeries Project.

There are three IBM-supplied build styles:

#### \*NONE

This build style contributes no actions and is useful if you want to disable the menu items associated with a build style. This style will always be available.

#### Command

The command build style contributes the following actions to the Remote Actions menu:

• **Push Changes** — Pushes any new or changed resources found in the selected project. An item is changed if it has been updated locally since the last time it was pushed, either by Push Selected or Push Changes. The first time it is done, all resources are uploaded to the associated library. Each subsequent upload is incremental.

- **Push Selected** This action uploads all selected resources and their children to their corresponding iSeries source files and members in the associated library. It creates any resources that do not exist. It will overwrite any changes that have been made on the server only if confirmed by the user. Use this action to force the contents of the associated library to match the workspace.
- **Submit Build Command** Submits the command found in this build style configuration to the server.

#### **CL** Program

This style uploads the COMPILE.CLLE and BIND.CLLE members from the source file that you designated in the style configuration for this project. It then compiles and runs them to build this project on the server. This build style contributes the following actions to the Remote Actions menu:

- **Push Changes** Pushes any new or changed items found in the selected project. An item is changed if it has been updated locally since the last time it was pushed, either by Push Selected or Push Changes. The first time it is done, all resources are uploaded to the associated library. Each subsequent upload is incremental.
- **Push Selected** This action uploads all selected resources and their children to their corresponding iSeries source files and members in the associated library. It creates any resources that do not exist. It will overwrite any changes that have been made on the server only if confirmed by the user. Use this action to force the contents of the associated library to match the workspace.
- **Submit Build** Submits a job to compile and run the iSeries Project on the server using the COMPILE and BIND programs from the source file you specify.

Each iSeries Project can have only one active build style. This can be configured through the properties page for that project (right-click on the iSeries project and select Properties).

By default, when a new iSeries project is created it has the CL Program build style associated with it. This can be changed by going to Window > Preferences > iSeries Projects > Build and Compile.

Once submitted, a build can be monitored through the iSeries Build Status View. This view can be set to update at regular intervals and monitors all iSeries Project build jobs that you have submitted. Also compile errors can be retrieved from that view by right-clicking on the submitted build and selecting the Retrieve Errors action.

You have selected a build style for your iSeries Project and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.6: Submitting a build."

### Exercise 3.6: Submitting a build

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.5: Selecting the build style" on page 31.

**Note:** You must have a build style defined for your project before you can compile.

Besides compiling a single member like in "Exercise 2.4: Compiling a member" on page 16, you can compile the project in full. The actual compile behavior depends on the Build Style associated with the project. The default build style for iSeries Projects is the CL Program Build Style.

This build style will generate a COMPILE.CLLE member in a QCLSRC file that will contain a compile entry for each source member in the iSeries project.

You can verify or change the configuration of a build style. You can specify the name of the source file to hold the COMPILE.CLLE member and whether or not you want to automatically push changes and re-generate the COMPILE.CLLE member before a push.

To compile a project in full:

1. Right-click the iSeries Project and click Remote Actions > Submit Build.



Now the connection will be activated and you may be prompted for a user ID and password if you disconnected.

2. Enter your user ID and password.

The changes are pushed to the iSeries. (For the first time all changes are pushed to the iSeries. Subsequent builds only push changed files.)



- **3**. This action, with the default configuration, will perform all of the following:
  - a. Generate the following COMPILE.CLLE member:

COMPILE	×	RPGS	RC	ØF	AYROLL	E
Line	1	Colu	mn 1	R	eplace	
	+	1	+	2	+	3
000100	PGM					
000200	DCL &	FAILED	TYPE (	*DEC)	LEN(10	0)
000300	DCL &	FAILEDS	TR TY	PE (*0	HAR) LE	I) (1
000400	-					- 223
000500	CHGPF	SRCFIL	E (PRO	JXX/Q	DDSSRC)	\$F
000600	(T)					÷.
000700	MONMS	G MSGII	(CPFO	000)	EXEC (DC	))
000800	CHG	VAR VAR	(SFAI	LED)	VALUE ( &	FAI
000900	ENDDO					
001000	1					
001100	CHGPF	SRCFII	E (PRO	JXX/Q	DDSSRC)	SF
001200	(T)					
4						- C
•						•

b. Display a Build Job entry in the iSeries Build Job Status View indicating that a build has been submitted. The entry will look like this:

Tasks	iSeries Com	iSeries	Error	i BiSeries J	ob 🗙	
					24	× \$
Date	/Time Submitted		Job			Connecti
Jan 3	, 2005 3:57:00	PM	251122	2/STECKHAM	I/MELA	s400a
•						•
4			F	Refresh Int	erval: 10 s	econds

You can change the Refresh Interval using the side arrow next to the **Refresh Interval** field shown above.

- c. Push all project changes to the host, including the newly created COMPILE.CLLE member.
- d. Compile COMPILE.CLLE into a program in the QTEMP library.
- e. Run it against the source in the PROJxx project library.
- f. If there where any errors during the submitted build (see PAYROLL), after the job completes, refresh the iSeries Job Status View, then right-click on the entry in the iSeries Job Status View, and select Task Actions > Retrieve Errors.

This will open the iSeries Error list and you will be able to double-click the error to open the corresponding member.

You have built your iSeries Project and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.7: Showing remote objects."

## Exercise 3.7: Showing remote objects

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.6: Submitting a build" on page 32.

You can refresh your iSeries Project Navigator and look at all the remote objects.

To show remote objects:

- 1. In the iSeries Project Navigator right-click the iSeries Project.
- 2. Click Show Remote Objects on the pop-up menu.



3. Your iSeries Project Navigator will now look like this:



You have seen the PAYROLLG program object in the iSeries Project Navigator and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.8: Filtering out remote objects."

### Exercise 3.8: Filtering out remote objects

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.7: Showing remote objects."

You can filter the objects to remove the remote only objects from the view.

To filter out remote objects:

- 1. Go to the iSeries Project Navigator toolbar.
- 2. Click the drop-down arrow.
- 3. Click **Show > Remote Objects** on the drop-down menu.

© iSeries Projects - COMPILE.CLLE - IBM Ration File Edit Source Navigate Search Project Rur	al Software Development Platfo n Window Help	orm <u>= 0 ×</u>
] ῗ • 및 ≏ ] 🎕 🕅 🖄 ] 🅸 • Ø • 9 ] Έ ← • → • ] ປ ♡   의 ⊒ ▶   Δ	L • J @ A E Rem	)iSeries Projects ote Syste
🛙 🛿 iSeries Project Navigator 🗙 Navigator 🧮	2 COMPILE 8 2	미키
← → [0] [□ 4]	👻 Line 1 Co	lumn 1 : Ar
QCLSRC (Local/Remote)	Sort	+2- 00
	Show	
P     QRPGLESRC (Loc	C 🔄 Link with Editor	STR TYPE
EVFEVENT.*file.pf-dta (Remote)	Expand All	LE (PROJX
PAYROLLG.*pgm.rpgle (Remote)	E Collapse All	D (CPF000
	<ul> <li>Show Local/Remote Flags</li> </ul>	R(&FAILE
Remote Systems 23 Properties	000900 ENDDO	-

This would remove all objects that are only remote from the view.

4. Expand QCLSRC, QDDSSRC, QRPGLESRC and RPGFILE

Now you see only Local/Remote objects.



Now you want to remove the Local/Remote Flags from the view.

- 5. Go to the iSeries Project Navigator toolbar.
- 6. Click the drop-down arrow.
- 7. Click Show Local/Remote Flags on the pop-up menu.



Now you see your objects without the flags to indicate whether the object is local, remote or both local and remote.



You have filtered the objects to remove the remote only objects from the iSeries Project Navigator and removed the local/remote flags from the view and now you are ready to begin "Exercise 3.9: Changing PAYROLLG again and submitting another build."

## Exercise 3.9: Changing PAYROLLG again and submitting another build

Before you begin, you must complete "Exercise 3.8: Filtering out remote objects" on page 35.

Now let's change PAYROLLG again and the submit another build. You will see that only the changed file is pushed to the iSeries.

To change PAYROLLG and submit another build:

- 1. Double-click PAYROLLG in QRPGLESRC.
- 2. In the Editor add a comment line to the source.
- **3**. Save the file and close the Editor.
- Right-click the iSeries Project MyProject and click Remote Actions > Submit Build on the pop-up menu.
- 5. Only the member and COMPILE.CLLE are pushed to the iSeries.

Progress Information	
PROJXX/QCLSRC(COMPILE)	
	Cancel
	5

You have pushed only the changed file to the iSeries.

#### Module recap

You have completed Chapter 3, "Module 3. Creating and Building an iSeries Project," on page 21. You have learned how to:

- Create a personal development library (single developer sandbox)
- Create an empty iSeries Project
- Populate the empty iSeries Project
- Select a build style for the iSeries Project
- Build the iSeries Project
- · View all the remote objects in the iSeries Project Navigator
- Filter the objects to remove the remote only objects from the iSeries Project Navigator
- Remove the Local/Remote Flags from the iSeries Project Navigator
- Push only a changed file to the iSeries

Now that you know how to build source you could start an interactive connection and then run your program interactively. You could also start the iSeries Integrated Debugger to debug your application. You can do the same run and debug tasks that are outlined in the tutorial named Maintain an ILE RPG application using the Remote System Explorer.

Finish the tutorial by reviewing the materials in Chapter 4, "Summary," on page 39.

# Chapter 4. Summary

This tutorial has shown you how to use the iSeries Projects perspective in a typical development cycle for offline application development. After providing you information about the perspective, the tutorial outlined the development cycle working offline with an iSeries Project, then elaborated on each step in maintaining an ILE RPG project-based application.

If you have completed all the modules in this tutorial, you should now be able to:

- Start the product, configure and create a connection to an iSeries system
- · Make source available for offline or disconnected development
- · Edit and verify source in disconnected mode
- Compile a changed member
- Create a new iSeries project and populate with new source physical files and members
- · Show remote objects or local objects or both
- Submit a build for the entire iSeries project

#### More information

For more information on the product and the iSeries Projects, see http://ibm.com/software/adwtools/iseries.

## **Appendix.** Notices

Note to U.S. Government Users Restricted Rights — Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

This information was developed for products and services offered in the U.S.A. IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user's responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

IBM may have patents or pending patent applications covering subject matter described in this document. The furnishing of this document does not give you any license to these patents. You can send license inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM Director of Licensing IBM Corporation North Castle Drive Armonk, NY 10504-1785 U.S.A.

For license inquiries regarding double-byte (DBCS) information, contact the IBM Intellectual Property Department in your country or send inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM World Trade Asia Corporation Licensing 2-31 Roppongi 3-chome, Minato-ku Tokyo 106-0032, Japan

The following paragraph does not apply to the United Kingdom or any other country where such provisions are inconsistent with local law: INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some states do not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

Any references in this information to non-IBM Web sites are provided for convenience only and do not in any manner serve as an endorsement of those Web sites. The materials at those Web sites are not part of the materials for this IBM product and use of those Web sites is at your own risk. IBM may use or distribute any of the information you supply in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

Licensees of this program who wish to have information about it for the purpose of enabling: (i) the exchange of information between independently created programs and other programs (including this one) and (ii) the mutual use of the information which has been exchanged, should contact:

Lab Director IBM Canada Ltd. Laboratory 8200 Warden Avenue Markham, Ontario Canada L6G 1C7

Such information may be available, subject to appropriate terms and conditions, including in some cases, payment of a fee.

The licensed program described in this information and all licensed material available for it are provided by IBM under terms of the IBM Customer Agreement, IBM International Program License Agreement, or any equivalent agreement between us.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are fictitious and any similarity to the names and addresses used by an actual business enterprise is entirely coincidental.

#### COPYRIGHT LICENSE:

Each copy or any portion of these sample programs or any derivative work, must include a copyright notice as follows:

© (your company name) (year). Portions of this code are derived from IBM Corp. Sample Programs. © Copyright IBM Corp. 1992, 2005. All rights reserved.

If you are viewing this information softcopy, the photographs and color illustrations may not appear.

### Programming interface information

Programming interface information is intended to help you create application software using this program.

General-use programming interfaces allow you to write application software that obtain the services of this program's tools.

However, this information may also contain diagnosis, modification, and tuning information. Diagnosis, modification and tuning information is provided to help you debug your application software.

Warning: Do not use this diagnosis, modification, and tuning information as a programming interface because it is subject to change.

## **Trademarks**

ClearCase IBM iSeries Rational WebSphere

Java<sup>™</sup> and all Java-based trademarks and logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in the United States, other countries, or both.

ActiveX, Microsoft, SourceSafe, Visual C++, Visual SourceSafe, Windows, Windows NT<sup>®</sup>, Win32, Win32s and the Windows logo are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both.

UNIX<sup>®</sup> is a registered trademark of The Open Group.

Other company, product, and service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.



Printed in USA